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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom
Holding Company

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Kingdom Holding Company (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and other standards and
pronouncements issued by the Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA).

‘What we have audited
The Group's consolidated financial statements comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018;

the consolidated statement of income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant
accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, that are endorsed in
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the code of professional conduct and ethics,
endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, License No. 25,
Kingdom Tower, P.O. Box 8282, Riyadh 11482, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
T: +966 (11) 211-0400, F: +566 (11) 211-0401, www.pwe.com/middle-east



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom
Holding Company (continued)

Our audit approach
Overview

Kev audit matters e Impairment review of indefinite life intangible assets
e Impairment review of equity-accounted investees

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where
management made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates
that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in
all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including
among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of
material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the
Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom

Holding Company (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit

Impairment review of indefinite life
intangible assets

At 31 December 2018, the Group had indefinite
life intangible assets, including goodwill and
brand, which arese on past business combinations
amounting to Saudi Riyals 1,038 million (2017:
Saudi Riyals 2,394 million).

In accordance with the International Accounting
Standard “Impairment of assets” (IAS 36), an
entity is required to test indefinite life intangible
assets acquired in a business combination for
impairment at least annually irrespective of

whether there is any indication of impairment.

These intangible assets are monitored by
management at the level of cash-generating units
(“CGUs") which are the different operating
activities of the Group. Management carried out
an impairment exercise in respect of indefinite
useful life intangible assets allocated to each CGU
by determining a recoverable amount based on
value-in-use of each CGU based on a discounted
cash flow model, which utilized the most recent
five-year business plan prepared by the Group's
management. The outcome of this exercise at 31
December 2018 did not result in any impairment
loss to be recognized.
We considered impairment testing of indefinite
life intangible assets performed by management
as a key audit matter since the assessment of the
recoverable amount under the value-in-use basis
is complex and requires considerable judgment
around use of estimates on the part of
management. The critical judgmental elements of
management’s assessment were:

(a) assumptions concerning the expected
economic conditions and growth in the
various territories where the CGU'’s operate;

(b) expected revenue and gross margin
assumptions; and

(¢) discount rates and terminal growth rates used
in the value-in-use cash flow model.

Refer ta Note 4.6 for the accounting policy and
Note 16 for the related disclosure in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

matter

We  assessed management’s impairment
assessment of indefinite life intangible assets by
performing the following procedures:

o Assessed the imethodology used by
management to determine a recoverable
value based on the value-in-use of each CGU
and compared it to that required by IAS 36.
We also tested the arithmetical accuracy of
the models used and logical integrity of the
underlying calculations;

e Tested the accuracy and relevance of the
input data by reference to supporting
evidence, such as approved budgets and
considered the reasonableness of these
budgets by comparison to the Group's
historical results and performance against
budgets;

e Engaged our own valuation experts to assist
in the review of the methodology of the
value-in-use caleulations and the derivation
and use of certain assumptions including
discount rates and long-term growth rates;
and

e Performed sensitivity analyses over key
assumptions, principally sales growth rate,
and terminal value multiple and discount
rates, in order to assess the potential impact
of a range of possible outcomes.

We also reviewed the adequacy of the Group's
disclosures included in the notes to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements
in relation to the accounting policy and testing
impairment of indefinite life intangible assets.



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom

Holding Company (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment review of equily-accounted
investees

At 31 December 2018, the Group had investments
in equity-accounted investees amounting to Saudi
Riyals 19,158 million (2017: Saudi Riyals 19,231
million).

In accordance with the International Accounting
Standard “Impairment of assets” (IAS 36), an
entity is required to perform impairment reviews
whenever there is an identified trigger for
impairment,

Management carried out an impairment review of
its equity-accounted investments. The outcome of
this exercise resulted in an impairment loss of
Saudi Riyals 200 million.

We considered impairment testing of equity-
accounted investments performed by management
as a key audit matter since the assessment of
impairment is complex and requires considerable
judgment around use of estimates on part of
management. The critical judgmental elements of
management's assessment were:

(a) Revenue growth estimates;
(b) Discount rates; and
(c) Cap rates used in the cash flow models.

Refer to Note 4.2(iii) and Note 4.8 for the
accounting policies and Note 13 for the relatecd
disclosure in the accompanying consolidated
Jinancial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit
matier

We  assessed management's  impairment
assessment by performing the following
procedures:

o Assessed the methodology used by

management to determine a recoverable
value and compared it to that required by
IAS 36. We also tested the arithmetical
accuracy of the models used;

e Tested the accuracy and relevance of the
input data by reference to supporting
evidence, such as approved budgets and
considered the reasonableness of these
budgets by comparison to the Group’s
historical results and performance against
budgets;

e Engaged our own valuation experts to assist
in the review of the methodology of the
impairment calculations and the derivation
and use of certain assumptions including
discount rates and long-term growth rates;
and

e Performed sensitivity analyses over key
assumptions, principally revenue growth
rate, terminal value multiple and discount
rates, in order to assess the potential impact
of a range of possible outcomes.

We also reviewed the adequacy of the Group's
disclosures in relation to this included in the
notes to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom
Holding Company (continued)

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report of the Group, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available to us
after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Annual Report of the Group, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of management and thoese charged with governance for the
consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, that are endorsed in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements issued by SOCPA, and the
applicable requirements of the Regulations for Companies and the Company's By-laws, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Group's audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom
Holding Company (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit condueted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, that are
endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, that are endorsed in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e livaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management,

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modifv our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Kingdom
Holding Company (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Omar M. Al Sagga
License Number 369

31 March 2019



KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

As at 31 December

Note 2018 2017

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 953,429 1,293,432
Investments at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") 7 3,763 22,650
Trade and other receivables 8 477,985 414,952
Prepayments and other current assets 9 206,360 312114
Due from related parties 10.1 129,431 141,184
Assets held for sale 11 44,357 477,210
Total current assets 1,815,325 2,661,542
Non-current assets
Investments at fair value through profit or loss {"FVTPL") 7 2,606,096 907,517
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

(“FVOCI") 12 7,873,434 11,211,586
Equity-accounted investees 13 19,158,568 19,230,889
Investment properties 14 4,198,664 4,219,808
Property and equipment 15 7,114,581 7,964,079
Goodwill and intangible assets 16 1,938,330 2,394,212
Deferred tax assst 21 9,025 37,992
Other lang term assets 17 156,673 138,585
Total non-current assets 43,055,371 48,104 658
Total assets 44,870,696 48,766,200
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Borrowings 18 4,021,510 409,858
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current

liahilities 18 528,363 443,849
Zakat and income tax payable 20 400,405 457,154
Due to related pariies 10.1 117,909 135,493
Dividends payable 36 163,985 -
Total current liabilities 5,232,172 1,448,354
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 18 9,255,415 13,213,247
Deferred tax liabilities 21 201,315 193,729
Employee benefit obligations 33 180,955 177,059
Other long term liahilities 151,768 61,448
Total non-current liahilities 9,789,453 13,645,483
Total liabilities 15,021,625 15,091,837
Net assets 29,849,071 33,674,363
EQUITY
Share capital 22 37,058,823 37,058,823
Statutory reserves 23 a 733,589 665,426
Retained earnings 1,271,981 1,314,057
Fair value reserve for investments at FVOCI 12b (11,045,965) (7,778,557)
Other reserves 23 b (68,019) 263,116
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 27,950,409 31,522,865
Non-controlling interests 24 1,898,662 2,151,498
Total equity 29,849,071 33,674,363

The notes on pages 15 to 51 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

Note
Revenues
Hotels and other operating revenues
Dividends income 25
Gain on investments at FVTPL 26
Total revenues
Hotel and other operating costs
Gross profit
General, administrative and marketing expenses 27
Share of results from equity-accounted investees 13a
Other (losses)/gains, net 28
Income from operations
Financial charges 29
Profit before zakat and income tax
Income tax 20
Zakat 20
Profit for the year
Profit for the year attributahle to:
- Owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interests
Basic and diluted earnings per share (Saudi Riyals) 35

Year ended 31 December

2018 2017
1,943,922 1,730,485
173,169 110,214
461,047 515,278
2,578,138 2,355,977
(1,342,330) (1,282,236)
1,235,808 1,073,741
(519,501) (553,808)
1,176,330 261,941
(331,447) 682,382
1,561,190 1,464,256
(522,753) (431,823)
1,038,437 1,032,433
(73,516) (12,266)
(264,119) (389,450)
700,802 830,717
681,633 663,569
19,169 (32.852)
700,802 530,717
0.19 0.18

The notes on pages 15 to 51 form an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

Year ended 31 December

Note 2018 2017

Profit for the year 700,802 630,717
Other comprehensive (loss) / income:
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Re-measurements of post-employment benefit obligations (597) 2,508
Net changes in fair value of investments at FVOCI 12b (3,267,013) 2,501,239
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Share in other comprehensive loss of equity-accounted

investees 13a (9,946) (45,844)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (333,826) 843,768
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (2,910,580) 3,932 388
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year

attributable to:
- Owners of the Company (2,916,515) 3,945,653
- Non-controlling interests 24 5,935 (13,265)

(2,910,580) 3,932,388

The notes on pages 15 to 51 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

Year ended 31 December

Note 2018 2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before zakat and income tax 1,038,437 1,032,433
Adjustments for non-cash items
Depreciation 15 215,647 201,584
Share of results from equity-accounted investees 13 (1,176,330) (261,941)
Gain on investments at FVTPL and others, net 26 (452,335) (275,242)
Provision for doubtful receivables 8 3,388 86,082
Amortization of transaction costs 18 14,748 17,758
Impairment loss on equity-accounted investees 13 200,000 37,261
Goodwill written off 16 320,046 122 189
Gain on bargain purchase and re-measurement of
existing equity interest - (945,396)
Gain on sale of equity-accounted investee 28 (196,368) -
Impairment of properties and equipment 15 241,770 2,674
Other gains (136,867) -
Gain on sale of asset held for sale 11 (97,134) -
Finance charges 29 522,753 431,823
Pravision for employee benefit obligations 33 9,093 21,801
507,348 471,026
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Trade and other receivables (20,187) 166,336
Prepayments and other current assets 105,754 82 591
Due from related parties 2,605 (11,212)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current
liabilities 253,558 (120,990)
Due to related parties (17,584) (17,955)
Movement in investments at FVTPL (1,227,357) 350,588
Other long term assets (18,108) 89,302
Other long term liabilities 90,320 45,246
(323,651) 1,054,932
Zakat and income tax paid (394,384) (126,956)
Employee benefit abligations paid during the year 33 (4,600) (23.322)
Net cash (utilized in) / generated from operating activities (722,635) 904 654
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of investments at FVOCI 71,149 372,371
Aequisition of equity-accounted investees (65,407) (5,802,455)
Capital repayment, disposal and dividends from associates 13 387,470 115,811
Net proceeds from sale of equity-accounted investees 749,251 49,183
Investment properties, net 21,144 72,968
Acquisition of property and equipment 15 (106,543) (118,338)
Disposal of property and equipment 165,653 620,885
Disposal of assets held for sale 432,853 -
Net cash flow on acquisition of subsidiaries - 117,570
Net cash generated from /(utilized in) investing activities 1,655,570 (4,571,995)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings 18 2,230,360 4,188,642
Repayment of borrowings 18 (2,488,512) (2,5662,337)
Dividends paid 36 (491,956) (655941)
Movement in restricted cash 9,711 (9,290)
Finance charges paid (522,830) (431,823)
Net cash (utilized in) / generated from financing activities (1,263,227) 529 251
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (330,292) (3,138,090)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6 1,147,629 4,285719
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6 817,337 1,147,629
Non-cash transaction:
Net assets transferred on the acquisition of subsidiary 5 - 3,396,599

The notes on pages 15 to 51 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
{All amounis in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Kingdom Helding Company (the “Company” or "KHC") is a Saudi Joint Stock Company {(*JSC") operating in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Company was previously formed as a fimited liability company and operated
under commercial registration number 1010142022 dated Muharram 11, 1417H (carresponding to 28 May
1896). The Ministry of Commerce and Industry appraved, pursuant to resofution number 128/S dated Jumad
Awwal 18, 1428H {comesponding to 4 June 2007), and the conversion of the Company into a joint stock
company,

The Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group™) carry out activities through the entities listed below. The
principal activities of the Group are hotsl management and operations, commercial services, educatian,
investment and medical services.

The shares of the Company commanced trading on the Saudi Stock Exchange on 28 July 2007 after approval
by the Capital Market Authority.

The Company’s head office is locatsd in Riyadh at the following address:
Kingdom Holding Company

86th Floor, Kingdom Centre

P.O. Box 1, Riyadh 11321

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

At 31 December 20118, the Group had net current liabiliies amounting to Saudi Riyals 3.4 billion (31 Decamber
2017: net current assets amounting Saudi Riyals 1.2 billion). This is mainly due to certain barrowing facilities
maturing before 31 December 2019, The Group has drawn down on a new loan facility subsequent to the year
end, signed an additional borrowing facility and is in an advanced stage of signing another loan facility,
aggregating in total to Saudi Riyals 3.4 billion. Based on the current status of negotiations of these facilities, a
review of the existing investments portfolio, potentiat renegatiation of terms of existing leans facilities and an
analysis of cash flow projections over the nex twelve months, management is confident that the Group will be
able to meetits obligations as and when they fall due.

These consolidated financial statements {the “consolidated financial statements”) were authorized for issue by
the Company's Beard of Directors on 28 March 2019,

11 Kingdom 5-KR-11 Limited (XR-11)

KR-11 is a fully owned limited fiability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The company’s principal
aclivity represents investments in internationat quoted securities, through its wholly owned subsidiaries.

1.2 Kingdom 5-KR-100 Limited (KR-100)

KR-100 is a fully owned limited lisbility company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The company's principal
activity represents ownership and management of mutual funds, thraugh its equity-accounted investees,

1.3 Kingdom 5-KR-132 Limited (KR-132)
KR-132 is a fully owned limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The carmpany's principa!

activity includes holding investments in the following subsidiaries and equity-accaunted investees that own and
manage praperties and hotels:

Effactive
Qwnership Percentage
2018 2017

Subsidiaries
Kingdom Hotel Investments (KHI) - Cayman Islands 100 160
Kingdom 5 KR 35 Group (George V) - France (Direct and indirect

ownership through KHI) 100 100
Equity-accounted investees
Four Seasons Holding Inc. (FSH inc.) — Canada 47.5 47.5
Movenpick Hotels and Resorts AG {Movenpick) - Switzerland ) - 333
Accor 8.A, — France (Note 3.2) 5.8 8.8
Maovenpick El Gouna 293 28.3
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Notes to the censolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

CORPORATE INFORMATION {continued)

1.4  Kingdom 5-KR-114 Limited (KR-114)

KR-114 is a fully owned limited liahility company incorporated In the Cayman Islands. The company holds
58.96% ownership in Breezeroad Limited, a coempany which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands which in turn
holds a 100% ownership in Savoy Hatels Limited in the United Kingdom.

1.5 Local and regional subsidiaries

The Company also has ewnership in the following local and regional subsidiaries and squity-accounted
investees:

Effective
Cwnership percentage

2018 2017
Subsidiaries
Kingdem Schoals Company Limited (The Scheol) - Saudi Arabia (Note 3.2) 47 47
Fashion Village Trading Company Limited {SAKS) - Saudi Arabia 71.8 71.8
Medical Services Projects Company Limited (MSPC) - Saudi Arabia 74 74
Consulting Clinic SAL (Clinic) — Lebanon 50.4 50.4
Real Estate Investment Company (REIC) - Saudi Arabia §9.4 69.4
Trade Centre Company Limited (TCCL) - Saudi Arabia 70.6 70.6
Kingdom Real Estate Development Company {KRED) - Saudi Arabia 100.0 100.0
Eguity-accounfed Investees
National Air Services (NAS) - Saudi Arabia 34.1 341
Jeddah Economic Company (JEC) - Saudi Arabia 33,3 33.3
Banque Saudi Fransi (BSF) - Saudi Arabia (Note 3.2} 16.2 16.2

The principal activities and the various segments of the Group are described in Note 34.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statemenis have been prepared in accordance with international Financial
Reporting Standards {("IFRS") issued by International Accounting Standard Board (MASB") that are endorsed in
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronauncements endorsed by the Saudi Organization for
Certified Public Accountant (“SOCPA™,

2.2 Historical cost convention

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
the: following:

s lnvestments at FYOC| and FVTPL are measured at fair value;

*  Assets held for sale — measured at fair value less cost to sale; and
* Employee termination benefits - stated at present value of obligations.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
2.3 New standard adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted IFRS %5 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers” from 1 January 2018, the effective
date of the standard. This has resulted in a change in the revenue recognition policy of the Group in relation 1o
its contracts with customers.

IFRS 15 outlines a single compeehensive model of accounting for revenus arising from contracts with custorners
and supersedes current revenue guidance, which was followed across several standards and interpretations
within IFRSs. It established a new five-step medel that will apply to revenue afising from contracts with
customers. Under RS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitfed in exchange for transferring goods or servicas to a custormer,

The Group has opted for the madified retrospective application permitted by IFRS 15 upon adoption of the new
standard which requires the recognition of the cumulative impact of adoption of IFRS 15 on all contracts as at 1
January 2018 in opening retainad earings.

The Group hag completed an averall assessment of all revenue streams and sourcas to evaluate the applicability
of these revenues under IFRS 15 requirements. The final assessment concluded {hat there was an immaterial
irnpact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

2.4 New standard not yet adopted

Titte of standard IFRS 16 Leases

Nature of change IFRS 16 was issugd in January 2018, It will result in almost all leases being
recognized on the condensed statement of financial position, as ihe distinction
betwaen aperating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an assat
(the right to use the feased itern) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognized,
The only exceptions are short-term and fow-value leases. The accounting for lassors
will not significantly change.

Impact The standard wil affect primarity the accounting for the Group's operating leases. As
at the reposting date, the Group has operating lease commitmenis disclosed in Note
30. The Graup has not yet determined to what extent these commitments will result
in the recognition of an asset and a liability for future payments and how this will
affect the Group’s profit and classification of cash flows.

Date of adoption by the  Mandatory for financial years cammencing on or after January 1, 2019, The Group
Group intends to apply the modified retrospactive approach and will not restate comparative
amounis for the year prior o first adoption.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on
the Group in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions,
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USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the reporting date and the reported amounts of revenus and expenses during the
reporting period. Estimates and judgments are continually eveluated and are based on historical experiance
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to ba reasonable under ihe
circumstances. The Group makes estimates and Judgments concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definitton, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and Judgements that have a
risk of causing a material adjustment fo the carrying amounts of assels and liabilities within fhe next twelve
month periad are discussed befow:

3.1 Significant estimates

*  Refer to Note 13: Investment in equity accounted invasteas — impairment {ssting
*  Referto Note 16; Goodwill and intangible assets - annual impairment testing

3.2 Significant judgements

Kingdom School Company

The Company is the largest sharehalder in Kingdom School Company while the remaining shares are held by
twelve investors. The CEQ of the Group is also the CEO of the Kingdom Scheol Company. As a result of
shareholder agreements, the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entily, The
Group has therefore determined that it has control over this entity, evan though it only holds 47.5% of the voting
rights.

Accor 8.4 France

The Group has a Board seat and other committee representations and participates in the peficy making process
of the company and it is the sacond largest sirategic investor in the company. The CEO of the hospitality arm
of the Group is a Board member and actively participates in the decision making process through his presence
an the Board and through significant interaction with kay management of Accor Hotels, The Group has therefore
determined that it has significant influence over this entity, even though it only holds 5.8% of the vating rights.

Banque Saudf Fransi (BSF) — Saudi Arabia

The Group is the largest shareholder of the Bank and has Board seats and other commitiee representations
and participates in policy making process of the bank. The CEQ of the Cornpany is also the Vice Chairman of
the Board of Directors of the Bank. The Group has therefore determined that it has significant influence over
this entity, even though it only holds 16.2% of the voling rights.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies applied by the Group in the praparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below. These policies have bsen consistently applied to all years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

4.1 Foreign currency translation
{a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ['the functional currency’). These consolidated
financial statements are presented in Saudi Riyals which is the Company's functional and Group’'s presentation
currency.

(b} Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactiens. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabitities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognized in the consolidated statement of incarme,

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate {o borrowings are presented in the consolidated statsment of
income, within finance casts. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated
statament of income on & net basis within other gainsf{losses),

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a fareign currency are transtated using the exchange
rales at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at
fair value are reported as part of the fair vaiue gain or lass. For example, translation differences on non-monetary
assels and liabilities such as equities held at FVTPL ars recognized in the consolidated statement of income as
part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assels such as equities classified
as at FVOC! are recognized in consolidated statemant of comprehensive income.

{c) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations {nane of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
sconomy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation cuwrency are franslated into the
presentation currency as follows:

» assels and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that consolidated statement of financial position;

* income and expenses for each statement of income and consalidated statement of comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates {unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing an the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the fransactions); and

*  allresulting exchange differences are recognized in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the transfation of any net invastment in foreign entities, and
of borrewings are recogrized in consolidated statement of camprehensive income. When a foreign operation is
sold or any borrowings forming part of the net invesiment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reciassified to the consolidated statement of income, as part of the gain or loss on sale,

Goodwill and fair value adjusiments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operafion are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign oparation and translated at the closing rate,
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

4.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
L Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Graup controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its invalvement with the entity and
has the ability {o affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consalidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsclidated from the date
that control ceases.

The acquisition methad of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group {See Note
4.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on fransactions between Group cempanies are
efiminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated untess the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the CGroup.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of income, consolidated statement of camprahensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statsment of financial position, respectively.

#i.  Associates

Asscciates are all enlities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control,
fnvesfments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting (see (iif} below), after inttially
being recognized at cast.

if. Eguity method

Under the equity method of acceunting, the investments are initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognize the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in the consolidated
statement of income, and the Group's share of mavernenis in other comprehensive income of the investee in
consofidated statement of comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates are
recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investmant.

When the Group's share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recagnize further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the othar antity.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealized losses arg also sliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the assat transferred, Accounting palicies of equity accounted investees have besn changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the palicies adopted by the Group,

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in aceardance with the policy
described in Note 4.8,

4.3 Business combinations

The acquisition mathod of accounting is used to account for ail business combinations, regardless of whethar
equity instruments or other assels are acquired. The corsideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

»  fair values of the assets transferred;

lizbilities incurred to tha former owners of the acquired business;

equity interests issued by the Group;

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and

fair value of any pre-existing equily interest in the subsidiary,

ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities angd contingent liabilities assumed in a business cornbination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continuad)
4.3 Business combination (continued)

Tha Group recognizes any non-controliing interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the noa-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquired entity's net identifiable
assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the

* consideration transferred,

* amount of any nor-centrolling interest in the acquired entity, and

= acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity intersst in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. i those amounts are less than
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the
consclidated statement of incame as a bargain purchase.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's previously
held equity interest in the acquirse is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses
arising from such re-measurement are recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

4.4 Investments and other financial assets and liabilities

. Classificatio

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

» those to be measured subsequantly at fair valug (either through other comprehensive income {OC) or
thraugh profit or loss), and
» those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business mads! for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses are either recorded In the consolidatad statement of income
ar QCI. Forinvestmants in equity instruments that are rot held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOC),

if. Recognition and de-recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are de-recognized when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially af
the risks and rewards of ownership.

i#. Measurement
Atinitial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair valuz plus, in the case of a financial assets

not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financiz) asset. Transaction
costs of financial assels carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consalidated statement of income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
4.4 Investments and other financial assets and liabilities {confinued)

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value, Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is ho subseguent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to the consolidated statement of income following the de-
recognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognized in the consolidated
statement of income when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial aszets at FVTPL are recognized in revenues in the consolidated statement
of incame as applicable. Impairment Iosses (and reversal of impairment losses) on aguity investments measurad
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

v, lmpairment

The Group assesses on a forward leoking hasis the expected credit losses associated with its financial assets
carried at amartized cost. The impaiment methodology applied depends on whether there has baen a significant
increase in credit risk.

Far trade receivables, the Group applies the simplifiad approach permitted by IFRS 8, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recagnition of the receivables. The amount of the loss ig charged to
the consolidated statement of income.

v.  Financial liabilities

Al financial liabilifies are recognized at the time when the Group bacomes a rparty to the contractual provisions
of the instrument, Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value less any directly atirioutable transaction
cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obiigation under the liability is discharged or cancellad or expired.
Where an existing financial fiability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liabfity are substantially medified, such an exchange or madification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in respective
carrying amounts Is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

vl.  Offsetting financial assels and Fabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financiat
position where the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts, and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and setlle the liabifity simultaneously,

4.5 Property antd equipment

Initial recognition

Property and equipment is recognized as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group, and the cost of the asset can be measurad reliably. Property and equipmant is
recognized and measured initially at cost. Cost includes the fair value of the consideration given to acquire the
asset {net of discounts and rebates, if any) and any directly attributable cost, such as site preparation cost,
delivery, installation costs, ralevant professional fees and the estimated cost of dismantling and removing the
asset and restoring the site (lo the axtent that such cost is recognized as a provision),

Y¥hen pars of property and equipment are significant in cost on comparison to the total cost of the item and
such parts have a useful life different than other parts, the Group recognizes such parts as individual assets and
depreciates them accordingly.

Subsequent measurement

The Group adopted the cost model to measure the antire class of property and equipment. After recognition as
an asset, an item of property equipment is carried at its cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.5 Property and equipment (continusd)

Sybsequen| expenditure

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount of recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will fiow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured raliably.

Devreciation

Useful lives are determined by management based on the expected usage of the assel, expected physical wear
and tear, technical and commercial obsolescense, legal and similar limits on the use of the assets and other
similar factars. Depreciation is calculated on straight line basis over the below useful lives and is recognized
in consclidated stateraent of income:

Number of
years
Buildings and leasehcld improvemants 110 99 years or
the [ease term
Equipment 5% 13
Furniture and fixtures 4to 20
Others 4to i4

Land and assets under canstruction that are not ready for intended use are not depreciated, Leasehold
improvements arg deprecated on the shorter of useful life and lease term

De-racognition

Praperty and equipment are de-recognized when they have been disposed or no future econamic benefits are
axpected to arise from their use or disposal. Gains or Josses arising from de-recognition of an item of propery
and equipment is included in the consclidated statement of income at the time the ftem s de-recognized.

4.6 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost upon Initial recognition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assels are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impaimment losses, if
any.

The useful lives of intangible assats are assessed to be either finite or indefinite, Intangible assets with finite
lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are raviewed at least at sach financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset, are accounted
for by changing the amortization perisd or methad, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting
estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is racoghized in the consolidated
statement of income in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Goodwill is measured as describad in Note 4,3, Goodwill and brands identified on acquisitions of subsidiaries
are included in intangible assets. Goodwill and brands are not amortized but are tested for impairment annually,
or move frequently if avents or changes in circumstances indicate that these might be impaired, and are carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Gains and losses on the dispesal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill or brands relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated ta cash-generating units for the purpose of impairmant testing. The allocation is made to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the Jowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, being the aperating segments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
4.7 Investment properties

Investment properties comprise property held for capital appreciation, long-term rental yields or both, and are
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment iosses, if any. Investment properties
also include property that is being constructed or developed for future use as invesiment properties. In addition,
tand, if any held for undetermined use is classified as investment properties and is not depreciated. When the
development of invesiment properfies commences, it is classified as "Assels under construction” wuntil
development is complate, at which fime it is transferred to the respective categary, and depreciated using
straight-line method at rates calculated to reduce the cost of assets to their estimated residual value over their
expected useful lives of 4 to 99 years.

Maintenance and normal repairs which do not materially extend the estimated useful life of an asset are charged
10 the consolidated statement of income as and when incurred,

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are
recognized and presented separately within ather income {expenses) - net in the consolidated statement of
income,

4.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses af each reporting date whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may be
impaired, If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount, An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an assel's or cash-
genersting unit's fair vaiue less costs to sall and its value-in-use and is detsrmined foran individual asset, unless
the asset does not generats cash inflows that are largaly independent of those from other assets or groups of
assats. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU excesds its recoverable armount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amaunt. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refiects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs
1o sell, an appropriate valuation modef is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples,
quoted share pricas for publicly traded entitiss or other available fair vatus indicators,

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in consolidated statement of income in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset,

For assets excluding goodwil, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any
indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no langer exist or may have decreased. If such
indication exists, the Group estimates the asset's or cash-generating unit's recoverable amount. A previously
recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine
the asset's racoverable amount since the last impairment loss was racognized, The reversal is limited so that
the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the camrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the assetin prior
years. Such reversal is recoegnized in the consolidated statement of income. Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

4,9 Trade raceivables

Trade raceivabies are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. Thay are generally due for setfement within 30 days and therefore are all dlassified as current.
Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is uncondifional unless they contain
significant financing camponents, when they are recognized at fair valua. The Group holds the trade receivables
with the objective to collect the contractusl cash flows and therefore measures them subsegquently at amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
4.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes expenditures incured in
acquiring the inventories, and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition, Costs
are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased
inventary are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realizable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

4.11 Gash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
cash on hand, bank balances and short-term deposits, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value less restricted cash.

4.12 Fair value measurement
The Group measures its financial instruments at fair value at the reporting date.

Fair value is the price that would be received o sell an asset or paid to transfer a Kability in an orderly transaction
between market particinants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place sither;

*  Inthe principal market for the asset or liability: or
* Inthe absance of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or lighility.

The fair valus of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assurning that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of refevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of
urobservable inputs.

4.13 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services providad to the Group prior to the end of financial
vear which are unpaid. The amounts are unsacured and are presented as current liabilities unless payment is
not due within 12 months after the reporting period. Thay are recognized initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

4.14 Provisions

Provisiens are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probabfe that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and = reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not recognized
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an autflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of cbligations as a whole. A provision is recagnized even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of ohligations may be small,

Pravisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to
setfle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is
2 pre-zakat and incoma tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of meney and the
risks specific to liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest
expense. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the consolidated statement of income.

415 Employse benefits and post-employment benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is pravided, A liability is recogrized for the

amount expected ta be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive abligation to pay this amount as a
result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT AGCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
4.15 Employes benefits and post-employment benefits {continued)
Post-employrment obligation

The Group operates a post-empioyment benefit scheme plans driven by the local laws of the countries in which
the Group entities operate.

The post-employment benefits plans are not fundad. Valuations of the obfigations under those plans are carried
out using actuarial techniques on the projected unit credit method. The costs relating to such plans primarily
consist of the present vaiue of the benefits attributed on an equal basis to each year of service and the interest
on this obligation n respect of employee service in previaus years.

Current and past sarvice cosis related to post-employment benefits are racognized immediately in tha
consolidated statement of income while unwinding of the fiability at discount rates used are recorded as financiz|
cost,

Re-measuremeant gains and losses arising from experience adjustmenis and changes in actuarial assumptions
are recognized directly in other comprehensive income and transferred to retained earnings in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity in the period in which they occur.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations resuiting from ptan amendments or curtailments
are recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of income as past service costs. End of service
payments are based on employees’ final salaries and allowances and their cumulative years of service, as
stated in the laws of the respective countrias in which the Group gperates.

4,18 Revenue recognition

The Group's main sources of revenue are fram provisicn of hotel services (accommodations, food and
beverages and banquet facilities), gains/losses from investments at FVTPL, provision of healthcare services
including related sales of medical products, rental income and provision of education services.

From 1 January 2018, ravenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the
sale of goods in the ordinary course of the Group's activities.

The Group recognizes revenue whan confrol of the goods has transferred, being when the products are
delivered to the customer, the customer has full discretion over the use or sale of such goods, and thers is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the goods or delivery occurs when the goods
have been deliverad as per the terms of the contract, the risks of obaslescence and loss have been transferred
to the customer, and gither the customer has accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective svidense that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied

A receivable is recognized when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration is
uncenditional because only the passage of time is fequired before the payment is due. Usually there are no
rights to raturn attached, therefore no refund liabilities are required to be recognized.

Revsnue from services

Revenue is recognized, when the Group satisiies the performance obligations as specified in the contract with
the customer, when the seller has transferred fo the customer the promised services, either;

. at a point in ime; or
. aver a time basis, equivalent to the stage of the completion of service.

Rental income

Tha Group owns a number of subsidiaries generating revenues from renting investment properties including
offices, villas, mall spaces, etc. The revenue is recognized on a straight line basis over the term of the lease
taking into cansideration any incentives given, the rent received in advance is recognized as contract liabifity.
The rental contracts are relatively simple and do net contain muliipte performance obligations, These contracts
are fixed price contracts where the customar pays the fixed amount based on a paymeant schedule. If the services
rendered by Group entity exceed the payment, a contract asset is recognized. If the payments exceed the
services rendered, a confract liabllity is recognized.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.17 Revenue recognition {continued)

Dividend and interest income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured at FVOC! and equity accounted investees, Dividends
are recognized as revenue in the consclidated statement of income whan the right to receive payment is
established. This applies even if they are paid out of pre-acquisition profits, unless the dividend clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of an investment. Interest income was recognized using the effective
interest rate method on accrual basis,

Fair value gaing on investmant measured at FVTPL

The fair value gain and losses for the investments measured at FVTPL is recognized as operational revenues
as the Group invests in those equity investments in its nomal course of business,

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised gootds
or sarvices to the cusiomer and paymant by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequance, the Group
does not adjust any of the transaction prices for tha time value of maonay,

Upto the year ended 31 Decernber 2017, the Group's revenue recognition policies were as follows:

Revenue from sale

Revenue from the sale of food, beverages, equity invesiments and other goods was recognized when it met the
following criteria:

- Significant risks and rewards of awnership were transferrad:;

- Managerial involvement usually associated with ownership or conltrol was given up;

- ltwas probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group; and

- The amount of revenue and costs was measured reliably.

endering senvices

Revenue from rendering of education, health care and other services including services in connection with hotel
operations of hotef business was recognized when the outcome of the transaction could be estimated refiably.
The outcome was reliable whan the amaunt of revenue could be measured reliably, and it was probable that
ecenomic benefits witl flow to the Greup.

Rental income
Rental income from operating leases of investment properties including apartments, offices, villas, mall spaces,
elc., was recognized on a straight line basis over the term of the lease taking into consideration any incentives
given.

fnterest and dividend income

Inferest income was recognized using the effactive interest rale method on ascrual basis, Dividends were
recegnized when the right to recaive payment was established.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
4.18 Borrowings

Borrowings are recagnized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs} and the redemption
valus is recognized in the consolidated statement of income over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest rate method. Boowing costs are racognized within finance charges in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

General and specific finance costs that are directiy altributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
a yuaiifying asset are capitalized during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarlly take a substantial periad of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale. There were no borrowings costs that required capitalization during 2018,

Borrawings are derecognized from the consolidated statement of financial position when the obtigation specified
in the coniract is discharged, cancelied or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in consolidated statement of income as other
income or finance costs.

4.19 Zakat and income tax

The Group is subject to zakat and income tax in accordance with the regulations of the General Authority of
Zakat and Tax (the “GAZT™). Zakat, for the Group and its subsidiaries subject to zakat, is caleulated based on
higher of approximate zakat base and adjusted profit and charged to the censolidated statement of income,
Income tax on the share of tha adjusted profi{ related to the foreign shareholders in the local subsidiaries, is
charged to the consolidated statement of income. Additional amounts, if any, are accounted for when
determined to be required for payment,

Foreign subsidiaries and foreign branches are subject to income taxes in their respective countries of domicile,
such income taxes are charged to the consolidated statement of income,

Income tax based on tha applicable income tax rate is adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and labilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability methed, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated finarcial statements. Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time
of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxabie profit nor loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected o apply whan the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilize
those temparary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current fax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a lagally enforceable right to offset and intends either to sattle on a
net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liabiiity simultanecusly,

Witiholding tax

The Company and its Saudi Arabian subsidiaries alsa withhold taxes on certain transactions with non-resident
parties in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabiz as required under Saudi Arabian Tax Law.

4.20 Dividends
Dividend payable is recognized for the amount of any dividend declared being appropriately authorized and no
tonger at the discretion of the Group, on ar before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end

of the reporting period. As per the corporate laws in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, a distribution is authorized
when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is recognized directly in equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continusd)
4.21 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per shars

Basic eamings per share is calcutated by dividing:

*  the profit atiributable to owners of the Group, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ardinary
shares

+ by the weighted averaga number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
banus elemants, if any, in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

The Group does not have any share eptions, uncalled or partially paid shares, deferred or sonvertibles notes
therefore there is no difference between basic and diluted earnings per share.

4.22 Leases

Leases of property and equipment where the Group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance feases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s inception at the fair
value of the lsased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other short-term and iong-term payables. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the consolidated
statement of income over the lease period so as to produce a constant periadic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The propertyand equipment acquired under finance Izases is depreciated
over the asset's usaful fife or over the shorter of the asset's usefu! life and the lease term if thare is no reasonable
cartainty that the Group wifl obtain ownership at the end of the lease tarm.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as
lessee are classified as operating leases. Payments mada under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognized in income on a siraight-line basis
over the lease term, The respective leased assets are included in the consclidated statement of financial position
based on their nature.

4.23 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a componant of the Group that engages in business aclivities fram which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the
Group’s ather components. Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with the injernal reporting
provided to the Chief Operafing Decision Maker {"CODM").

Reportable segments are disclosed separately at least where, total revenue is mors than 10% of the total
revenus of the Group, or absolute amount of prafit or loss is more than 10% of combined reported profit of alf
segments (excluding loss making segments) and combined raported loss of all segments (excluding profit
making segments), or total assets are more than 10% of total assets of KHC.

4.24 Assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is
highly probable that they will be recovered primarity through sals rather than through continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell, Any impairment loss on a disposat group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining
assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that ne loss is aliocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred
tax assets, employee benefit assets or investment property, which continue to be measured in accordance with
the Group's other accaunting policies, impairment losses on initial classification as heid for sale and subsequent
gains and losses on re-measurement are recognized in the consolidated statement of income. Onee classified
as held for sale, intangible assats and property and equipment are na longer amortized or depreciated, and any
equity-accounted investee is no longer equity-accounted.
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Acquisition of Real Estate Investment Company and Trade Centre Company Limited

During the year ended 31 December 2017, upon compietion of lagal formalities, KHC incressed its investment
in REIC from 38.9% to 69.4% and in TCCL from 36% o 70.62%. These transactions resulted in the Greup
recognizing REIC and TCCL as subsidiaries and derecognizing the previously held equily accounted
investments.

These consolidated financial statsments include the results from the dates when Group obtained control of REIC
and TCCL, which were 1 June 2017 and 14 August 2017, respeclively, Further, fair value of the assets acquirad
and liabilittes assumed on acquisition of REIC and TCCL were measured on & provisional basis at the date of
acquisition,

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of REIC and TCCL as at the date of acquisition were as
follows:

Bargain purghase gain an acquisition REIC TCCL TOTAL
Assets acuired
Current assets 82,197 265,062 347,259
Non-current assets 1,110,580 2,773,228 3,883,829
1,192,787 3,038,307 4,231,088
Liabilities assumed
Current liabilities {74,100) (223,222) (287,322)
Non-current liabilities {41,377) {495,790) {537,167)
Fair value of net assets acquired 1,077.310 2,319,289 3,396,599
Total acquisition cost (544,074) (1,107,820) (1,651,994)
Nen-controlling interast (329,657} {681,407} {1,011,064)
Gain on bargain purchase 203,579 529,962 733,541
Total consideration 125,000 272,976 397,976
Fair value of previously held equity interest 419,074 834,944 1,254,018
Tolal acquisition cost 544,074 1,107,920 1,651,984
Cash flow on acquisition:
Net cash acquired with subsidiary 11,402 106,168 117,570
Cash paid in current year - - -
Nat cash flow on acquisition 11,402 106,168 117,570

REIC as a subsidiary contributed revenue of Saudi Riyals 47.6 million and net income of Saudi Riyals 29.8
million to the Group’s results during 2017. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 Jaruary 2017, management
esiimates that the consolidated revenue would have been higher by Saudi Riyals 16.1 million and consolidated
net income for the year would have been higher by Saudi Riyals 8.1 millian.

TCCL as a subsidiary has contributed revenus of Saudi Riyals 188.2 million and net income of Saudi Riyals
41.3 million to the Group's results during 2017. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2017, management
estimates that the consolidated revenue would have been higher by Saudi Riyals 197.8 million and consolidated
net income for the year would have been higher by Saudi Riyals 38.3 miilion.

Curing the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has determined that the rasulting intangible assets are

not significant for separate recognition and also no further adjustments are required to be mads to the provisional
amounts previously recognized.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents 952,448 1,288,880
Short temn deposits 981 45562
Total cash and cash equivalents 853,420 1,283,432
Less: Restricted cash {136,092) {145,603)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consalidated statement of cash flowe 817,337 1,147,629

Shor-term deposits are for varying maturity periods (between one day and three manths), depending on the
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at floating rates.

Included in the cash and cash equivalents is Saudi Réyals 60 million {2017: Saudi Riyals 11 milfion) deposited
with a related party.

INVESTMENTS AT FVTPL
The Group classifies investments at FVTPL those equity invastments for which it has not elacted to recognize

feir value gains and losses through other comprehensive income, FYTPL investments consist of internationally
quoted and ungquoted securities. The movement in FVTPL investments is set out below:

2013 2017

FVTIPL - current assets

1 January 22,650 605,663

Disposals {19,963) (587.574)

Changes in fair valug 1,076 4,561

31 December 3,763 22,650
FVTPL - non-current assets

T January 907,517 399,850

Additions 1,247,320 236,988

Changes in fair value 454,259 270,681

31 December 2,606,096 907 517
Total FVTRL 2,609,859 930,167

Certain investmants are used as collateral against barrowings of the Group and its subsidiaries (Note 18).

Puring the year, the Group invested Saudi Rivals 213.8 million in Deezer, an urllisted French musie streaming
company, purchased additional shares amounting to Saudi Riyals 848.3 million from the majority shareholder
His Royal Highness Prince Alwaleed Bin Talal Bin Abdulaziz AlSaud ("Ultimate controfling party*} and also
participated in a share issuance in Careem amounting to Saudi Riyals 187.4 million.

TRADE AND OTHER REGEIVABLES

2015 2017
Trade receivables 644,577 596,160
Less: provision for doubtful receivables {166,592) (181,208)
477,985 414,952

Movement in the pravision for deubtful receivables is as follows:
2018 2017
1 January 181,208 95,126
Charge for the year (Note 27) 3,888 86,082
Armounts written off and others {18,504} -
31 December 166,592 181,208
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Due to the shori-term nature of the trade receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as
their fair value. Aiso see Note 32,

Trade receivables are expected, on the basis of experience, to be fully recoverable. Genarally, it is not the
practice of the Group to obtain collateraf over trade receivables. Thus, trade receivable balances are unsecured.,

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

2018 2017

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 113,886 152,748
Inventories 79,978 87,877
Investment in real estate — current portion {(Note 14) - 58,285
Advances ta suppliers §,320 9,259
Value Added Tax claims receivable 2176 5,945
206,360 312,114

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANGCES

10.1 Related parties comprise the sharcholders, directors, associate companies, key management personnsi.
Related parties also include business entities in which certain directors or senfor management have an interest
{other related parties).

The transactions with related parties represants rental services, management fee, maintenance and other
general services rendered o or purchased from related parties of the Group. Balance due to and dug fram
related parties are outstanding balances in lieu of such transactions. Related party balances, other than those
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, as at 31 Dacember are as follows;

Name Relationship 2018 2017
Due from related partias:
Azizia Commercial investrent Company Affiliate 80,000 50,000
Fawaz Abdul Aziz Al Hokair & Co. Affiliate 29,977 39,148
Others Associate /

affiliate 9,454 12,036
Total 129,431 141,184
Due to related parties:
Kingdom Qasis Affiliate 104,500 100,000
Four Seasons Hoelding Inc. Associate - 20,132
Accor S.A, Associate - 14,198
Movenpick Hotels and Resorts Assaciate - 1,163
Safari Company Limited Service provider £,733 -
Others Associate /

affiliate 7,676 -
Total 117,909 135,433

See Note 7 for transaction with the majority shareholder. This iransaction was approved by the Board of
Directors on 10 September 2018. Also see Nole 8 and Note 18 for bank and borrowings balances held with a
related party that is an equity-accounted investee, There are no other significant refated party transactions that
warrant separate disclosure in the consclidated financial statements,

10.2 Key management compensation;

2018 2017

Short and long term bensfits 3,123 40 985
Others 6,776 463
37,899 41,448

32



1

12

KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Netes to the consclidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The Group classified the following assets and liabilities refating to certain CGU's as held for sale;

2018 2017
Current assets 46,822 63,254
Non-current assets 20,135 452726
66,957 515,980
Current and other [iabilities {22,600} (38,770}
Net balance 44,357 477.210

See Note 15 for the transfer from property and equipment during 2018. The property classified as asset held for
sale as at 31 December 2018 has been sold subsequent to the year end at an amount equat to its camrying
value. The asset classified as held for sale at 31 December 2017 was disposed during the year at a gain of
Saudi Riyals 97 million {Also see Note 28}.

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME {"FvOoCI”)

Financial assats at fair value through other comprehensive income comprise 2quity securities which are not held
for trading, and for which the Group has made an irrevocable election at initial recognition to recognize changes
in fair vatus through OCI rather than the consolidated statement of income as these are strategic investments
and the Group considered such selection to be more relevant.

() FVOCI investments cansists of the foltowing:

2018 2017
International 7,228,478 10,513,483
Local and regionat 644,956 698,113
7,873,434 11,211,596
(b) The movement in EVOCI is set out below:
2018 2017
Cost:
1 January 18,990,153 12,151,040
Additions during the year - 4,384
Transfer from equity-accounted investees - 111,349
Disposals during the year {70,754) {276,620}
31 December 18,919,399 18,990,153
Fair value reserve for investments at FVOCH
1 January (7,778,657} (10,177,824)
Unrealized (foss) / gain during the year, net (3,267,013) 2,501 239
Unrealized gain transferred to retained earnings upon disposal (395) {101,972}
31 December {11,045,965) (7.778,557)
Net carrying amount 7,873,424 11,211,596
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EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES

(@) The movement in investments in equity-accounted investees for the years ended 31 Decamber is as

fallows:

2018 2017
1 January 19,230,889 14,123,741
Additions during the year 65,407 5,802 455
Capitaf repayment and dividends from associates (387,470) (115,811)
Disposals during the year (Note 13.1) (577,883) (49,193}
Share of result from associates {Note 13 (&) 1,176,330 261,941
Transfer due to businsss combination (Note 13.3) - (1,042,753}
Transfer to investment at FVOC! (Note 13.3) - {111,349
Share in other comprehensive loss (Note 13 ch (9,948) (45,844)
Irpairment loss recognized during the year (Nole 13.2) {200,000} {37.261)
Unrzalized exchange (loss) / gain on translation (144,582) 446 595
Other 5,823 {1.632)
31 December 19,158,568 19,230,889

13.1 During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group so0ld an equity-accounted investee amounting to
Saudi Riyals 577.9 million fo another equity-accounted investee, restlting in a gain amounting to Saudi Riyals
196.4 million {2017 loss of Saudi Riyals 2.7 million) (Note 28).

13.2 During the year ended 31 December, 20148, the Group recorded an impairment loss on an investment in
an equity-accounted investee amounting to Saudi Riyals 200 miflion (MNote 28) assessed using value-in-use.

For the impairment in equity-accounted investes, the Group has asseased the recoverable value through value-
in-use using a 5 years discounted cash flow analysis using a discount rate of 11.46% and long-term ierminal
growth rate of 2%. If the discount rate is increased by 0.5%, the impairrment loss would increase and net income
for the year would decreasa by Saudi Riyals 152 million.

13.3 During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group completed the reorganization in two of its equity-
accounted investees, REIC and TCCL, as a result of which both these investments were classified as
subsidiaries and consolidated from the date the Group abtained control. Also sze Note 5.

Also, during the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group sold one of its investmant partially and lost significant
influence, as a result of which the investment was reclassified {o an investment at FVOCI.

(b) Petails of equity-accounted investees at 31 Dacember are summarized as follows:

2018 2017

Effective Effective

ownership Cwnership
Investee name % Amount % Amount
Banque Saudi Fransi 16.2 6,125,517 16.2 5,838,226
Four Seasons Holding Inc 47.6 4,499,946 475 4,392 593
Accar S5,A.(Note 3) 5.8 4,040,808 58 3,874,349
Jeddah Ecanomic Company 33.3 2,798,942 33.3 2,803,025
Mationat Air Services 34.1 1,624,935 34.1 1,915,305
Médvenpick Hotels and Resorts AG - - 333 544,589
Mdvenpick Ef - Gouna 283 49,928 293 56,034
Othars 30.0-35.0 15,494 30.0-35.0 5768
19,188,568 19,230,889
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EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (continuad)

(C) Following is the summary financial information for the equity-accounted investments:

31 December 2018 Four Accor
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals millions) NAS JEC Seasons BSF S.A
Non-current assets 564 10,248 11,013 86,558 39218
Current assels 995 221 1,543 103,843 16,152
Nan-current liabilities {265) {2,082) (4,138) (11,018)  {14,741)
Current liabitities {2,399) {18} {686) (148,368)  (13,041)
Equity {1,105) 8,388 7,732 30,814 27,588
KHC’s share - 2,802 3,673 4,992 1,600
Carrying amount 1,625 2,799 4,500 6,126 4,041
Revenue 3,621 - 1,848 6,847 15,977
Net profit / {loss) {262) (12) 380 3,307 10,109
Other comprehensive income {3) - {10} {33) 31
Total comprehensive income {265) {12) 339 3,274 10,140
Share in total comprehensive

income / {loss}) {90} {4} 161 530 538
31 Dacember 2017

(Al amounts in Saudi Riyals Four

mitiions) Movenpick NAS JEC  Seasons BSF Accor S.A.
Non-current asseis 179 781 9,681 11,053 86,612 24,380
Current assets 471 989 323 1,302 106,317 28,840
Non-current liabilities (37) (525} {1,436) 4,137} {12,202} {(14,758)
Current liabilities {179} (1,993) {168) {641)  (149,068) {13,303)
Equity 434 (738) 8,400 7,577 31,862 26,159
KHC’s share 144 - 2,805 3,59% 5,129 1,517
Carrying amount 545 1,915 2,803 4,393 5,839 3,674
Revenue 989 3,575 - 1,741 6,604 8,203
Net profit / (loss) 18 {208) (16} 229 3,532 2,037
Other comprehensive income - (3) - 136 578 {1,901)
Total comprehensive income 18 {211} {16} 365 4,110 136
Share in total comprahensive

income / {loss) 6 (72) {5) 174 4 B

Ameng the equity-accounted investass mentioned above, Banque Saudi Fransi and Accor S.A. are listed
entities, At 31 December 2018, the fair value of the Group’s holding in these associates as per quated prices
amounts to Saudi Riyafs 8,131 million and Saudi Riyals 2,628 million, respectively. For Accor 5.A management
has determined that no impaiment is required. In reaching to this conclusion, management has applied a
premium for the Board seat and governance rights, synergies measured with the quoted price, third party
discounted cash flow analysis by third party parties and analysts consensus and forecast reports. The significant
assumptions applied on the discounted cash flow projections are a CAGR of 5.8% to revenues, discount rate of
8.4% and EBITDA multiple of 16.4. The mast sensitive assumption relates to the premium noted above. If the
premium is reduced by 10%, the recoverable value would be equal to the carrying value,
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Jeint $tock Company)

Notes to the consoclidated financial statemants for the year ended 31 December 2018
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwize stated)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investments in land, buildings and related infrastructure costs

Properties under construction

Less: currant portion {Note 9)

Movernent in investment properties is as follows:

1 danuary

Acquired through business combination

Additions
Disposals and others, net
31 December

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

1 January

Additions

Pisposals, impairment and others
31 December 2018

Accumufated depreciation
1 January
Charge for the year
Disposals and others
31 December
Net book value at

31 December 2018

Cost

1 January

Additions

Acquired under business
combination

Disposals and others

31 December 2017

Accumulated depreciation
1 January
Charge for the vear
Disposals and athers
31 December
Net bock value at

31 December 2017

2018 2017
4,080,133 4,150,032
118,531 126,061
4,198,664 4,276,083
- {56,285)
4,198,664 4,219,808
2018 2017
4,219,808 2,094 448
- 2,255,295
2,945 -
{24,089) (129,935)
4,198,664 4,219,808
Buildings and Furniture,
leasehold Fixtures and
Land improvements Equipment others Total
2,627,960 5,636,528 270,314 997,561 8,532,363
- 60,824 14,821 30,398 106,543
(306,320} (435,238) {(71,439) {256,575)  (1.069,572)
2,321,640 5,262,114 213,698 771,884 8,589,334
- 916,412 136,242 515,630 1,568,284
- 06,417 26,066 83,164 215,847
- {139,736) (61,230} (128,212} {329,178)
- 883,093 101,078 470,582 1454753
2,321,640 4,379,021 112,618 301,302 7,114,581
Buildings and Furniture,
leasehold Fixtures and
Land improvemenis  Equipment others Totai
3,178,203 5,179,412 333,497 950,632 9641744
- 24,403 14,407 76,854 115,664
135,000 1,264,078 150 130,351 1,529,579
{685,243) {831,385} (77,740) {160,276} (1,754,824)
2,627,960 5,636,528 270,314 897 561 9,532,363
- 982,883 173,903 538,523 1,695,309
- 113,158 29,436 58,989 201,584
- {179,630} (67,097) {81,882} {328,609)
- 916,412 136,242 515830 1,568,284
2,827 960 4,720,118 134,072 481,921 7,954,073

Certain land and buildings have been coliateralized against termn lgans (Note 18).
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2048
(All samounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise siated)

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has sold certain properties at a loss amounting to Saudi
Riyals 239 million (2017: Nil). Alsa another praperty is expested to be sold and management has determined
that the criteria for reclassification to asseats keld for sale has been met and accordingly transferred this propesty
to assets held for sale. In daing se, an impairment loss amounting {0 Saudi Riyals 58 millien (2017 Nif) has
been recognized, The impairment was assessed with referencs to offers received for the sale of this property.
Also see Naote 1.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and intangible assets comprise the following;

2018 2007
Goodwilt 1,224,746 1,581,060
Other intangible assets 713,584 813,152
1,938,330 2,384,212
Movement in goodwill and other intangible assets is set out below:
2018 2017
1 January 2,394,212 1,692,970
Step acquisition of equity-accounted investee - 758,856
Goodwill written off {320,046) (122,189}
Currency translation adjustments and others (135,836) 64,475
31 December 1,938,330 2,394,212

The goedwilt pertains to the Group's investment in foreign subsidiaries. In line with the disposal and impairment
of properties in one of its majar subsidiary as explained in Note 15, the Group has written-off the related goodwill
aliacated {o these properties amounting to Saudi Riyals 320 million (2017: Saudi Riyals 122.2 milion).

Other intangible assets principally include brand and management contracts that relate to subsidiaries that
operate under the hotel segment. Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over their usefut aconomic
lives ranging from 3 to 5 years, On completion of the purchase price allocation relating to the step-acyuisition of
an equity-accounted investee during July 2016, the Group recognized an indefinite life intangible asset (brand)
amounting ta GBP 150 million {Saudi Riyals 708 million}. This is due to the hotsl being considered & trophy
asset and management concluding that the benefits will be for an indefinite period, Therefore the brand is not
amortized but tested for impairmeant annually.

{i} Basis of determining racoverable amounts and key assumptions for brand ard goodwill impairment:

Hotels

The recoverable amounts have been determined based on value-in-use, using either discounted cash flow
analysis, or based on expert valuation reports. The hotel is the lowest level within the Group at which goodwil
is monitored for internal management purposes. The cash flow projections are based on financial budgets that
are approved by managemant. These cash fiow projections are for & period of 5 years. Cash flows beyond 5
years are extrapolated using growth rates not exceeding the long-term growth rates of the economies in which
these hotels operate. The key assumptions are that the hotels will continue their status as premier hotals,
occupancy rate and average rate per rooms are based on management's assumption of achieving a stabilized
level of performance considering the political and econamic environment of the countries in which the hotels
oparate.

The discount rate and terminal capitalization rates ranged between 8.50% and 2.9% to 3%, raspectively,
depending on the geographical territories in which the hotais are located,
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Notes to the consclidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
{All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless ctherwise stated)

GODDWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
{i) Sensifivity to changes in assumplions;

Management determined forecasts based on past performance and its expectations of market development,
The discount rates used raflect management's estimate of the specific risks relating fo the segment. With regard
to the assessment of the value-in-use, management believes that any reasonable change in any of the key
assumptions above would net cause the carrying value of the unit including goodwill and brand to materially
exceed its recoverable amount. If the terminal capitalization rates of one CGU is increased fram 3% to 9.4%
and from 2.9% to 3.4% for another CGU, the recoverable values will equal the carrying amounts.

OTHER LONG TERM ASSETS

2018 2017
Long term advances 151,364 104,157
Value Added Tax claims racejvable - 30,052
Refundable deposits 435 453
Others 4,874 3,803

156,673 138,565

BORROWINGS
The outstanding borrowings balance is presented as follows:

2018 2017
Curre
Short-term loans - 2,208
Current partion of term loans 4,021,510 407,650
Current barrowings 4,021,510 408,858
Non-current
Term |oans, including long-term ravolving facilities 8,255,416 13,213,247
The movement in the borrowings is as follows:

2018 2017
1 January 13,651,390 11,173,857
Additions 2,230,360 4,195,169
Acquired on business combination - 686,200
Repayments {2,488,512) (2,562,337
Foreign currency translation adjustments {102,776} 158,501
31 December 43,290,462 13,661,390
Unamortized iransaction costs:
1 January {28,285) {39,516}
Addition - 6,527)
Amortization 14,743 17,758
31 December {13,537) {28,285}
Net carrying amount 13,276,925 13,623,105
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Notes te the consclidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

BORROWINGS {continued)

Details of borowings by entity are as folfows:

2018 2017

Kingdom 5-KR-11 Limited 5,245,691 5,057,763
Kingdom Holding Company 4,502,545 4,303,123
Kingdom §-KR-~35 Group 1,494,095 1,561,054
Kingdom KR-114 Limited 1,269,472 1,610,661
Kingdom Hotel fnvestments 233,154 433,671
Others 532,068 666,833
13,276,925 13,623,105

Included in the total borrowings are borrowings from a related party amounting to Saudi Riyals 357 million {2017:
Saudi Riyals 216 million).

Following is a summary of the Group’s significant borrowings:
Kingdom 5-KR-11 Limited

Loans in Kingdom §-KR-11 limited carry floating interest rates, which are calculated on a base rate plus a spread
based on the currency of the loan. The facilities are sacured by certain investments at FVOC! and other
investments. The aggregate maturities of these loans, based on their respective repayment schedules, are
spread over a period of 5 years. These loans are denominated in US dolfars. Loan agreements include certain
financial covenants with respact to minimum tangible net worth, tonsolidated EBIT, consolidated net
commission costs, loan {o value ratio, minimum standalone and consolidated total assels, debt service ratio and
interest coverage ratic. The Group has complied with all its covenants.

Kingdom Holding Company

Loans in Kingdom Holding Company (*KMC”) were obtained from commerciat banks and consist of several
facilities incfuding syndicated Inans and revolving credit facilities. These loans carry barrawing costs based on
Saudi Inter Bank Offered Rate {"SIBOR") and London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (‘LIBOR") plus a spread and are
secured against certain investments by the Company. The aggregate maturities of these loans, based on their
respective repayment schedules, are spread over a periad of § years, Loan agreements include certain financial
covenants with respect to minimum tangible net worth, consolidated EBIT, consolidated net commission costs,
loan to value ratio, minimum standalone and consolidated total assets, debt service ratio and interest coverage
ratio. The Group has complied with all its covenants. The carrying values of the borrowings are denominated in
fallowing currencies:

2018 2017

Saudi Riyals 1,392,735 1,268,018
U3 Bollars 3,109,810 3,044,105
4,502,545 4,303,123

Kingdom 5-KR-35 Group

Loans in Kingdom 5-KR-35 Group are secured by a morlgage over George V hotsl property. The loan
agreements include certain financial covenants, such as debt service coverage ratio, assets value coverage
ratio. The Graup has complied with all its covenants. The loans carry floating interest rates {based on LIBOR}
and are due to mature by 2023, These loans are primarily denominated in Euro.

Kingdom KR-114 Limited

Loans in Kingdom KR-114 Limited have different maturities within the next two years and carry interest rates
which are either fixed or floating based on LIBOR. These loans are denominated in GBP, The loans are secured
through registered mortgages and fliens over the Savoy holel. Loan agreemants include certain financial
covenants with respect o debt service ratio and interest caverage ratio. The Group has complied with all its
covenants.
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KINGDOM HOLDING GOMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Notes fo the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(Al amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

EORROWINGS (conlinued)
Kingdom Hotel Investments

Loans in Kingdom Hotel Investments have different maturities within the next sleven years and carry floating
interest rates. These rates are calculated on base rate plus a spread, The faciliities are secured through
registered mortgages and liens over several properties, deed of support and order notes. Loan agreements
include certain financial covenants with respect ta debt service ratio and interest coverage ratio, The Group has
complied with alf its covenants. The carrying values of the borrowings are denominated in following currencies:

2018 2017

US Dollars - 120,808
Moraccan Birhams 163,612 187,871
UAE Dirhams 69,542 125,182
233,154 433,671

Other loans

Other loans represent various loan facilities obtained by cerlain other subsidiaries of the Group. These facilities
carry interest calculated on floating base rate plus a spread based on the currency of the loan. The facilities are
secured against mortgags of properties and other assets. The aggregate maturities of these loans, based on
their respective repayment schedules, are spread over a period of five years. These loans are primarily
denominated in Saudi Riyals.

All the Group's borrowings are secured against certain property and equipment, investment properties, equity-
accounted investees, investments at FVTPL and investments at FVOCIK.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

2018 2017

Accounts and other payables 205,827 164,040
Accrued expenses 178,943 142,545
Security deposits 49,717 31,468
Advance from customers 28,393 45,034
Contract liabilities 22,631 22,283
Cthers 42,852 38,498
528,363 443,849

ZAKAT AND INCOME TAX PAYABLE

{a) Zakat and income tax expense reported in the consalidated staternent of income consists of the following:

Note 2018 2017

Zakat 20(b) 264,119 388,450
Incoms tax 20{c) 21,565 (20,798)
Withholding tax on foreign dividends 20(c) §1,951 33,084
337,635 401,716
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Dacember 2018
{All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

ZAKAT AND INCOME TAX PAYABLE (continued)
(b) Zakat

The zakat obligations for the year represent the estimated zakat due on the Company and its local subsidianes.
The movement in the zakat provision is as follows:

2018 2017
1 January 437,771 99,978
Acquired on business combination - 20,773
Charge for the year 264,119 369,450
Paid during the year {331,859) {72,430)
31 December 370,031 437,771

Zakat for the year represents the amount due on the Company and its local subsidiaries. The significant
compunents of zakat base under zakat and income tax regulations ere principally comprise of equity, provisions
at the beginning of year, long-term borrowings and adjusted net income, less deduction for the net book value
of fong-term assets and certain other items. The differences betwaen the financiaf and adjusted ngt income are
mainly due to provisions and other items which are not alfawed in the calculation of adjusted nat income subject
to zakat.

Status of final assessments

Since 2012, the Company was contesting ils zakat and income tax assessment for the years from 2007 to 2010.
During 2018, there was 2 seftlement agreed with the GAZT amounting to Saudi Rivals 200 million. Also during
2018, the Company received assessment from the GAZT for the years 2011 and 2012 resulting in additional
zakat assessment. Management has contested the matters included in the assessment and filed an appeal
providing its detailed arguments against the assessment, An agreement has been reachad with the GAZT for
these two years and the payment has been made on 28 January 2019, Based on advice from the zakat
consultant and based on precedence made as a result of the settlements made during 2018, management
beliaves that the eventual cutcome for the years from 2013 to 2017 {though not yet formally assessed) will not
result in any additional material liability, The Company has filed its zakat returns up to the year ended 31
December 2017 with the GAZT,

(€} Income tax

The Group's subsidiaries which are incorporated outside the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia are subject to tax laws
of the respactive country of incorporation.

2018 2017
1 January 19,383 61,643
Income tax charge / {revarsal) 21,565 {20,798}
Withholding tax on foreign dividends 51,951 33,084
Paid during the year {62,525) (54,526)
31 December 30,374 19,383

Thera are no sigrificant pending income tax assessments or tax notices received in relation to the operations
of subsidiaries in foreign countries by their respective taxation authorities.

There are no significant pending zakat assessments received in relation to the oparations of subsidiaries in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia by the GAZT,

41



21

22

23

KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax liabilities and assets relate to the following:

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, equipment and intangible assets

Others

Defarred tax asset (mainly on accumulated losses)

SHARE CAPITAL

2018 2017
174,584 180,825
26,731 2,904
201,315 193,728
{9,025) (37,992)

The share capitat consists of 3,708 million authorized and issued shares at par value of Saudi Riyals 10 each.

RESERVES

{a) Statutory ressrves:

Articles 129 and 130 of Regulations for Companies require companies to set aside 10% of nat prafits for the
year as statutory reserves until the reserve reaches 30% of the share capital.

{b} Otherreserves:

The following table shows a breakdown of other reservas and the mavement in these reserves during the year:

Share in Exchange
other differences on
comprehen translation of Re-
sive foreign  measuring
income of operations and of
equity- equity- employee
accounted accounted benefit
investees investees obligations Total
At 1 January 2017 (29,291) (474,495) (13.943) (517,729)
Share in other comprehensive loss {47,155) - - {47,155}
Actuarial losses on employae benefit
obligations during the year 1,311 - 2,457 3,768
Unrealized exchange gain for the year an
franstation - 824 232 - 824,232
At 31 December 2017 (75,135) 349,737 {11,4886) 263,116
Share in other comprehensive loss (4,667) - - (4,667}
Actuarial losses on employee benefit
obligations during the year {5,279) - {597) (5,876)
Unrealized exchange loss for the year
on translation - {320,592) - (320,592)
At 31 December 2018 (85,081) 29,145 {12,083) (68,019)
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(Al amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

This balance represents the share of the non-controlting interest in the following subsidiaries:

2018 2017

Total non-  Share in total Total non-

Share in total

controlling comprehensive controlling comprehensive

Name of the subsidiary interest loss/{income) inferest loss/{income)
Trade Centre Company Limitad 712,479 19,898 682,581 {10,963}
Kingdom KR-114 Limited 498,225 (33,136) 531,361 23,687
Real Estate nvestment Cormpany 345,130 8,504 336,626 (7,602)
Kingdom Hotal Investments 54,859 (565) 295,504 (32,422}
Medicat Services Projects Company Limited 220,211 7,811 221,644 (4,041)
Kingdom Schools Company Limited 53,274 7,609 55212 (7.260)
Consulting Chinic SAL 24,535 - 24,535 -
Fashion Village Trading Company Lirited {10,051) {4,086) {5,965) 51,886
1,898,662 5935 2,151,498 13,265
DIVIDEND INCOME
2018 2017
International 173,169 110,214
GAIN ON INVESTMENTS AT EVTPL
2018 2017
Realized gain on sale of investmenis at FVTPL 8,712 240,038
Unrealized gain on investments at FYTPL 452,335 275,242
461,047 515,278
GENERAL, ADMINISTRATIVE ANC MARKETING EXPENSES
2018 2017
Employee cost 135,500 150,187
Professional fees 137,380 118,457
Utilities and office expenses 44,447 38,238
Selling and markeling expenses 39,646 43,555
Repairs and maintenance 25,1588 22,302
Provision for doubtful debts (Note 8) 3,888 88,082
Others 133,482 84,987
519,501 553,808
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KINGC:OM HOLDING COMPANY

{A Saudi Jeint Stock Company}

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(All amounts in Szudi Riyals thousands unless othenwise stated)

OTHER (LOSSES) f GAINS, NET

2018 2017
Gain / (loss) on disposal of equity accounted investee (Note 13.1) 196,368 {2,674)
Gain on sale of asset held for sale (Note 11) 97,134 -
Impairment of property and equipment and related goodwill (Note 15, 18} {561,816) {122,188)
tmpairment of equity-accounted invesiee (Note 13.2) (200,000} (37.261)
Gain on bargain purchase {Nofe 5) - 733,541
Gain on re-measurement of existing equity inferest in REIC and TCCL {Note 13.3) - 211,855
Other gains / (losses) 136,867 {100,890}

(331,447) 582,382

Other gains for the year ended 31 Decernber 2018 mainly relates to reversal of certain accrued professional
charges which were not required after finalization of the purchase price allocation relating to the two subsidiaries.

FINANCIAL CHARGES

Finance charges consist of interest payments on oulstanding borrewings nat of finance income, which is not
significant for separata disclosure, arising from cash balance and shori term deposits held at banks.

COMMITMENTS

{a) Capital commitmenis

The Group has on-going aclivities to construct and renovate hotels and other properties, with various stages of
completion. The tota! outstanding capital commitments relating to such developments as of 31 December 2018
amounted to Saudi Riyals 278 miflion {2017: Saudf Riyals 298 milfion).

{b} Operating lease commitments

The Group has various commitments under operating leases for offices and business premises, Future minimum
annual paymenis under these leases are as follows:

2018 2017
Within one year 309 355
110 5 years 1,285 1,401
Mare than § years 1,047 1,154
2,641 2,810

CONTINGENCIES

The Group is a defendant in various legal claims arising in the normal course of business. Based on the
information presently available, there are no significant claims against the Group requiring & provision,
Management believes that the provisions maintained for such claims are adequate. Any additional liabilities
including any potential zakat assessments (Note 20) that may result in connection with other claims are not
expected to have a material effect on the Group's financiat position or results of operations,

At 31 December 2018, the Group has outstanding letters of guarantees amounting to Saudi Riyals 42,5 million
{2017: Saudi Riyals 42.5 million} issued in the normal course of business. In addition, the Group's share in the
equity-accounted investees’ letters of guarantees, credits and acceptance as of 31 December 2018 amounted
to Saudi Riyals 9,100 million {31 December 2017: Saudi Riyals 9,438 million).
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Notes fo the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(Al amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated}

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

Note 2018 2017
Financial assets
Financial assets at amortized cost
Trade and cthar receivables 8 477,988 414,952
Due from related parties 10.1 129,431 141,184
Cash and cash equivalents B 853,429 1,293,432
Financial assets at FYQCI
lnvestments at FVOCI 12 7,873,434 11,211,586
Financial assets at FVTPL
Investments at FVYTPL 7 2,609,859 930,167
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Accounts payables and accrued expenses 19 407,401 328,849
Due to related parties 1A 117,909 135,493
Borrowings 18 13,276,925 13,623,105
Dividends payahle 163,985 -

The Group’s activilies expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including currency risk, interest rate
risks and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's averall risk management pragram focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. Risk management is carried out by senior management under policies approved by the
Board of Directors.

Currancy risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognized assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that are nat the functional curcency of the relevant Group entity. Majority of the
Group's assels and liabilities are denominated in the functional currency of the respective subsidiaries, therefore
the related currency risk is minimal. At the parent entity level, the assets and liabilities are denominated in Saudi
Riyals or US Dollars. The Saudi Riyal is cumently pegged to the US Dollar, therefore there is no risk on US
Dollars denominated assets and liabilities.

interest rata risk

The Group's main interest rate risk arises from long-tesm borrowings with variable rates, which expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group monitors closely the movement in interest rates and manages
its risk accordingly. It is not a practice to hedge the interest rate risk.

An increase / decrease in intarest rate of 1%, with all other vaziables held canstant, would have resulted in 3
decrease/increase in the Group's consolidated net income amounting to Seudi Riyals 97.6 million.
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KINGDOM HOLDING COMPANY

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Notes fo the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2018
{All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINAMCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Equity price risk

The Group’s listed and unlisted equity investments are susceptible to market price risk, arising from uncertainties
about fair values of invesiment securities. The Group manages equity price risk through diversification and

selting limits on investments. The exposure to equity securities and its impact on equity is detailed in the table
below with a % decrease / increase in equity prices.

Markets 2018 Sensilivity
Percentage
- US listed securities 8,903,575 89,036 1%
- US unlisted securities 49,560 496 1%
- Middle East 1,316,608 13,166 1%
- Europe 213,650 2135 1%
10,483,203 104,833
Markets 2017 Sensitivity
Parcentage
- U8 listed securities 10,986,123 109,861 1%
- US unlisted securities 124,833 1,246 1%
- Middle East 1,031,007 10,370 1%
12,141,763 121,417
Cradif risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and will cause tha
other party to incur a financial loss. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as cradit exposures
to trade and other receivables and balances due from related parties.

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties
with a minimum rating of A2 are accepted,

Sales to retaif customers are required to be settled in cash or using major credit cards, mitigating credit risk.
There are no significant cancentrations of credit risk, whether through exposura to individual customers, specific
industry sectors and/or regions.

For other customers, where thare is no independent rating, the Group assesses the credit quality of the
customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are
then assigned.

Balances due from related parties are usually considered jow credit risk due to the fow probability of default.

The receivables are shown net of allowance for impairment. The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach
to measwiing expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowanca for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, frade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristica and the days past due. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflact current and forward-
iooking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the custorners to settle the receivables,
The Group has identified the GDP, unemployment rate, inflation rate and interest rate of the countries in which
it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusted the historical loss rates
based on expected changes in these factors.

The Group evaluates the concentration risk with respect to trade receivables which are significantly located in
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Trade receivables balance comprises of 83% in KSA, 7% in GCC (other than
KSA) and 10% in other countries (2017: 88% in KSA, 6% in GCC (other than KSA) and 8% in other countries),
The nature of businesses of the Group owned entities does not expase it to credit concentration risk.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued})
Credit risk {continued)

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the significant components of the consnlidated
statament of financial position:

Note 2018 2017

Bank balances and short term deposits 6 953,429 1,283,432
Trade and other receivables 8 477,985 414,952
Dug from relatad parties 10.1 429,431 141,184
1,560,845 1,846,568

The receivable balances are monitored with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.
Liguidity risic

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial cbligations as they fall dus. The
Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to
meet its lfabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses
or risking damage to the Group’s reputation,

Typically, the Graup ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to mest expectad operational expenses
including the servicing of financial obligations. This excludes the potantial impact of extreme circumstances that
cannot be reasonzably predicted, such as natural disasters. In addition, the Group has aceess to credit facilities.

Cash flaw forecasting is performed by management which monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom
on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group does not breach borrowing limits or
covenants (where applicable) on any of its borrowing facifities, Such forecasting takes into consideration the
Group's debt financing plans, covenant compliance and complianca with internal ratio targets. Also see Note 1.

The lable below analyses the Group's financial fiabilities into the relevant maturity groupings hased on the
remaining period at the reporting date fo the contractual malurity date. The amounis disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows,

Less than 1 110 3 More than
2018 year years 3 years Total
Borrowings 4,122,582 6,768,867 2,908,110 13,799,559
Accounts payable, acciued expenses
and other current liabilities 407,40 - - 407,401
Due to related parties 117,909 - - 117,909
Dividends payable 163,985 - - 163,985
4,811,877 6,768,867 2,908,110 14,488,864
Less than 1 1to0 3 More than
2017 year years 3 years Total
Borrowings 440,326 8,928,595 4,934,669 14,304,590
Accounts payable, accrued expenses
and other current liabilities 328,849 - - 328,349
Due to related parties 135,493 - - 135,493
904,668 8,929,595 4,934,669 14,768,932
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Capital management risk
The Group's objectives when managing capital are {o
« safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
sharsholders and banefils for other stakeholders, and

= maintain an optimal capital structure {o reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt.

KHC’s capital management strategy is to maintain sufficient capital so that the percentage of debt to total assat
does not exceed 60% of total assets {i.e. to maintain 2 40% headroom). The Board of Directors monitor the
retlirn on capital employed and the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders, Total capital is calcutated as
*equity’ as shown in the consclidated statement of financial position plus nat debt.

Capital management 2018 2017

Total borrowings 13,276,925 13,623,105

Total assets 44,870,596 48 766,200

Debt to tofal asset ratio 29.58% 27.94%
Fair values

Fair value is the price that would be received (o sell an assat or paid {o transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The Group's financial instruments are measured under
the historical cost convention, except for invesiment carried at FVOCI and FYTPL which are carried at fair
values,

Fair value hierarchy

Level 1: The fair valug of financial insiruments {raded in active markets {such as trading and fair valus through
other comprehensive income securities) is based on quated market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The quoted market price used for financial assets heild by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using
valuation technigues which maximize the use of cbservable market data and rely as littfe as possible on entity-
specific estimates. if all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are absarvable, tha instrument is
insluded in level 2.

Level 3: If ane or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included
in lavel 3.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)
Fair value hiararchy {confinued)

The following table presents the Group's financial assets measured and recognized at fair value including their
levels in the fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2018 on a recurring basis:'

As at 31 December 2018 Level 1 fevel 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets

investrents et FYTPL,
- United States of America 3,763 1,934,443 - 1,938,206
- Middle East - 671,653 - 671,653
3,763 2,606,096 - 2,609,859

investments at FVOCI
- United States of America 7,183,418 - 45,060 7,228,478
- Middle East 644,956 - - 644,956
7,828,374 - 45,060 7,873,434
Tatal financial assets at fair value 7,832,137 2,606,096 45,060 10,483,293
As at 31 December 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Toftal

Financial assets

investments at FVTPL:
- Uniled States of America 22,650 574,623 - 587,273
- Middle East - 332,884 - 332,894
22,650 907,517 - 930,167

Invastments af FVOCI
- United States of America 10,393,386 75,037 45,060 10,513,483
- Middle East 698,113 - . 698,113
11,091,499 75,037 45,060 11,211,596
Total financial assets at fair value 11,114,149 982,554 45,080 12,141,763

Vaiuation lechnigues used to delermine fair values

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include, the use of quoted market prices
resulling in level 1 valuations, observable market inputs and latest transaction prices resulting in level 2
valuations.

Valuation process

The Group has a beam that performs / reviews the valuations of non-property #tems required for financial
reparting purposes, including fair values of financial instruments. This team reports directly to the Chief
Investment Officer (C10). Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the CIO and the
valuation team at least once every six months, in line with the Group's half-yearly reporting periods.

Changes in level 2 and 3 fair values are analyzed at the end of each reporting period during the half-yearly
valuation discussion. There have been no transfers between level 2 and 3 and vice versa, during the year ended
31 December 2018.

Fair value of other financial instruments
The Group also has a number of financial instruraents which are not measured at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position. For the majorily of these instruments, the fair values are not materially different

to their camrying amounts, since the interest receivable/payable is either close to current market rates (mostly
due to freguent re-pricing) or the instruments are short-term in nature.
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EMPFLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

2018 2017
At 1 January 177,059 160,313
Current service cast 8,183 19,580
Interest expense 910 2,221
Total amount recognized in profit or loss 9,093 21,801
Re-measurements
Gain frem change in financial assumptions (4,044) {(608)
Experience gains 3,447 (1.902)
Tetal amount recognized in othar comprehensive income {597) [2,508)
Liability assumed on business combination - 20,775
Benefit payments {4,600} (23,322)
At 31 December 180,058 177,059

tn accordance with the provisions of IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits', management has carried ouf an exercise to
assess the present value of its obligation at 31 December 2018 and 2017, using the projected unit credit method,
in respect of employess’ end of service benefits payable under the local laws applicable to the respective
subsidiaries and the parent company. Under this method, an assessment has been made of the employee's
expected service life with the Group and the expected basic salary at the date of leaving the service.

Management has assumed average increment/promotion costs between 2% o 5% (31 December 2017; 2% to
5%). The expected liability at the date of Isaving the service has been discounted to its nat present value using
an approximate discount rate batween 2.5% to 4.8% (31 December 2017; 2.5% to 3.8%).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group organizes and manages its operations by business segments. Management treats the operations of
these segments separately for the purposes of monitoring, decision making and performance assessment,

Description of segments and principal activities

The Group's primary operations ars organized into the following segments;

Equity investments international - The principal activity includes investments in international guoted
securities

Domestic and regional - The principal activity includes investments in securities
quoted on the BSaudi Stock Exchange, the regional Stock Exchanges and
investments in associates other than real estate.

Private equity - The principal activity includes investments in private equities,
managed funds and other entities existing within the structure of the Group.

Hotels The principal activity of this segment includes invesiments in subsidiaries and
associates that are in the business of managing and owning hotel properties and
related activities.

Real estate The principal activity includes investments in activities relating to ownership and
davelopment of land and real estate projects.

Healthcare The principal activity includes hospital, pharmacy and consuiting clinics.

All other segments The principal activities include operatfons of Kingdom School and other trading

activities carried out by the Group.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Equity All other
investments Hotels Real estate  Healthcare segmaents Total

2018
Total assets 20,922,912 14,081,652 8,313,765 462,797 39,570 44,870,696
Total liakilities 9,577,981 4,481,904 826,490 104,177 31,073 15,021,625
Total revenue 634,216 1,107,054 445,683 296,236 94,938 2,578,138
Total operating

costs - 893,472 179,839 208,548 60,471 1,342,330
Net profit ! {loss) 879,295 (267,693) 75,688 12,598 834 700,802
Timing of

revenue

recognition
At point in time N/ Yes N/A Yes NiA -
Over a period of

time NiA N/A NfA N/A Yes -
2017
Total assets 22,411,047 16,587,438 9,083,841 451,247 262,629 48,766,200
Total! labilities 9,793,919 4,271,706 738,639 181,068 106,505 15,091,837
Total revenue 826,492 1,074,489 235,817 325,633 894,566 2,355,977
Total operating

costs - 866,801 123,522 227919 63,094 1,282,238
Net profit / {loss) 481,716 171,871 {26,193 10,854 {7.531) 630,717
Timing of revenue

recognition
At point in time N/A Yes /A Yes N/A -
Over a period of

{ime N/A, A NA N/A Yes -

Management believes that the inter-segment transactions for the KHC Group are instgnificant and therefore
have not been disclosed.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 has been computed by dividing the net
income of Saudi Riyal 701 million { 2017; 631 miltion} by the total number of shares outstanding during 2018 of
3,706 million shares (2017: 3708 million sharas).

DIVIDENDS DECLARATION

The General Assembly of the Company, in its annusl meating held on 20 Ramadan 1439M {corresponding to 4
June 2018), appraved quarterly cash dividends totaling to Saudi Riyals 657 million for the year as recommended
by the Company's Board of Directors. The cash distributions have to be made to all shareholders on record as
of the dates approved in the General Assembly meeting. The first, second and third dividend distributions wera
made to ali sharsholders an record as of the date approved in the Genera Assembly meeting. The fourth
dividend distribution was made subsequent to the year-end.

The General Assembly of the Campany, in its annual meeting held an 29 Sha'ban 1438H (corresponding to 25
May 2017), approved quarterly cash dividends totaling to Saudi Riyals 657 million.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 26 March 2019, the Group has announced it has signed an agreement to dispose its entire investmant in
Careem to Uber. This fransaction will result in an approximate gain amounting to Saudi Riyals 0.4 billion which
will be accounted for during the year ending 31 December 2018.

The Board of Diractors on 28 March 2019 proposed a distribution of quarierly cash dividends fotaling to Saudi
Riyals 865.9 million, subject to approval in the next Crdinary General Assembly mesting.
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